On Monday, December 17, 2012, the Rules Committee met in the Supreme Court courtroom 2:00 p.m. to 3:19 p.m.

Members in attendance were:

HON. DENNIS G. EVELEIGH, CHAIR HON. JON M. ALANDER HON. BARBARA N. BELLIS HON. WILLIAM M. BRIGHT, JR. HON. JULIETT L. CRAWFORD HON. KARI A. DOOLEY HON. RICHARD W. DYER HON. MAUREEN M. KEEGAN HON. ELIOT D. PRESCOTT

Also in attendance were Carl E. Testo, Counsel to the Rules Committee, and Attorneys Denise K. Poncini and Joseph J. Del Ciampo of the Judicial Branch's Legal Services Unit.

- 1. The Committee unanimously approved the minutes of the meeting held on November 19, 2012
- 2. The Committee considered a letter from Attorney Michael A. Agranoff concerning his proposals to amend the juvenile rules to include fact-pleading and summary judgment, which were denied by the Committee at its November 19, 2012, meeting. Attorney Agranoff attended this meeting and addressed the Committee concerning his proposals. The Committee took no further action on this matter.
- 3. The Committee considered a proposal by Judge Barbara M. Quinn, Chief Court Administrator, to amend the rules to provide for limited scope representation in Connecticut. Judge Lynda Munro, Chief Administrative Judge for Family Matters, was present and addressed the Committee, commenting on limited scope representation in the family context.

After considerable discussion, the Rules Committee tabled the matter to its January meeting. Judge Linda Lager, a Massachusetts judge and an attorney from that state who regularly practices under rules providing for limited scope representation will also be invited to address the Committee at that meeting.

4. The Committee considered a proposal by the Judges Advisory Committee on e-filing to amend the rules to permit the use of electronic delivery confirmation where "return receipt requested" is presently required.

After discussion, the Committee unanimously voted to submit to public hearing the proposed revisions to Sections 2-11A, 2-20, 2-32, 2-38, 2-41, 24-10, and 24-32 as set forth in Appendix A attached hereto.

5. The Committee considered a proposal by Attorney Johanna Greenfield to amend Section 25a-15 concerning the sealing of financial affidavits in magistrate matters.

After discussion, the Committee unanimously voted to submit to public hearing the proposed revisions to Sections 25a-15 and 25-59A as set forth in Appendix B attached hereto.

Respectfully submitted,

Carl E. Testo

Counsel to the Rules Committee

Cal E. Letto

APPENDIX A (121712 mins)

Sec. 2-11A. Appeal from Decision of Bar Examining Committee concerning Conditions of Admission

- (a) A decision by the bar examining committee prescribing conditions for admission to the bar under Section 2-9 (b) or on an application to remove or modify conditions of admission under Section 2-11 (a) may be appealed to the superior court by the bar applicant or attorney who is the subject of the decision. Within thirty days from the issuance of the decision of the bar examining committee, the appellant shall: (1) file the appeal with the clerk of the superior court for the judicial district of Hartford and (2) mail a copy of the appeal by certified mail, return receipt requested or with electronic delivery confirmation, to the office of the statewide bar counsel and to the office of the director of the bar examining committee as agent for the bar examining committee. The statewide bar counsel shall be considered a party for purposes of defending an appeal under this section.
- (b) The filing of an appeal shall not, of itself, stay enforcement of the bar examining committee's decision. An application for a stay may be made to the bar examining committee, to the court or to both. Filing of an application with the bar examining committee shall not preclude action by the court. A stay, if granted, shall be on appropriate terms.
- (c) Within thirty days after the service of the appeal, or within such further time as may be allowed by the court, the director of the bar examining committee shall transmit to the reviewing court a certified copy of the entire record of the proceeding appealed from, which shall include a transcript of any testimony heard by the bar examining committee and the decision of the bar examining committee. By stipulation of all parties to such appeal proceedings, the record may be shortened. The court may require or permit subsequent corrections or additions to the record.
- (d) The appellant shall file a brief within thirty days after the filing of the record by the bar examining committee. The appellee shall file its brief within thirty days of the filing of the appellant's brief. Unless permission is given by the court for good cause shown, briefs shall not exceed thirty-five pages.

- (e) The appeal shall be conducted by the court without a jury and shall be confined to the record. If alleged irregularities in procedure before the bar examining committee are not shown in the record, proof limited thereto may be taken in the court. The court, upon request, shall hear oral argument.
- (f) Upon appeal, the court shall not substitute its judgment for that of the bar examining committee as to the weight of the evidence on questions of fact. The court shall affirm the decision of the committee unless the court finds that substantial rights of the appellant have been prejudiced because the committee's findings, inferences, conclusions, or decisions are: (1) in violation of constitutional provisions, rules of practice or statutory provisions; (2) in excess of the authority of the committee; (3) made upon unlawful procedure; (4) affected by other error of law; (5) clearly erroneous in view of the reliable, probative, and substantial evidence on the whole record; or (6) arbitrary or capricious or characterized by abuse of discretion or clearly unwarranted exercise of discretion. If the court finds such prejudice, it shall sustain the appeal and, if appropriate, rescind the action of the bar examining committee or take such other action as may be necessary. For purposes of further appeal, the action taken by the superior court hereunder is a final judgment.
- (g) In all appeals taken under this section, costs may be taxed in favor of the statewide bar counsel in the same manner, and to the same extent, that costs are allowed in judgments rendered by the superior court. No costs shall be taxed against the bar examining committee, except that the court may, in its discretion, award to the appellant reasonable fees and expenses if the court determines that the action of the bar examining committee was undertaken without any substantial justification. "Reasonable fees and expenses" means any expenses not in excess of \$7500 which the court finds were reasonably incurred in opposing the committee's action, including court costs, expenses incurred in administrative proceedings, attorney's fees, witness fees of all necessary witnesses, and such other expenses as were reasonably incurred.
- (h) All information relating to the conditional admission of an attorney, including information submitted in connection with the appeal under this section, shall be confidential unless otherwise ordered by the court.

COMMENTARY: This amendment permits the use of electronic delivery confirmation in place of traditional return receipts.

Sec. 2-20. —Disciplinary Provisions regarding Foreign Legal Consultants

- (a) Every person licensed to practice as a foreign legal consultant under these rules:
- (1) shall be subject to the Connecticut Rules of Professional Conduct and to the rules of practice regulating the conduct of attorneys in this state to the extent applicable to the legal services authorized under these rules, and shall be subject to reprimand, suspension, or revocation of license to practice as a foreign legal consultant by the court;
- (2) shall execute and file with the clerk, in such form and manner as the court may prescribe:
- (A) a written commitment to observe the Connecticut Rules of Professional Conduct and other rules regulating the conduct of attorneys as referred to in subsection (a) (1) of this section,
- (B) an undertaking or appropriate evidence of professional liability insurance, in such amount as the court may prescribe, to assure the foreign legal consultant's proper professional conduct and responsibility,
- (C) a duly acknowledged instrument in writing setting forth the foreign legal consultant's address in the state of Connecticut or United States, and designating the clerk of the superior court for the judicial district of Hartford at Hartford as his or her agent upon whom process may be served. Such service shall have the same effect as if made personally upon the foreign legal consultant, in any action or proceeding thereafter brought against the foreign legal consultant and arising out of or based upon any legal services rendered or offered to be rendered by the foreign legal consultant within or to residents of the state of Connecticut, and
- (3) a written commitment to notify the clerk of the foreign legal consultant's resignation from practice in the foreign country of his or her admission or in any other state or jurisdiction in which said person has been admitted to practice law, or of any censure, reprimand, suspension, revocation or other disciplinary action relating to his or her right to practice in such country, state or jurisdiction.

(121712) APPENDIX A 2-11A 2-20 2-32 2-38 2-41 24-10 AND 24-32 (b) Service of process on the clerk pursuant to the designation filed as aforesaid shall be made by personally delivering to and leaving with the clerk, or with a deputy or assistant authorized by the clerk to receive service, at the clerk's office, duplicate copies of such process together with a fee of \$20. Service of process shall be complete when the clerk has been so served. The clerk shall promptly send one of the copies to the foreign legal consultant to whom the process is directed, by certified mail, return receipt requested or with electronic delivery confirmation, addressed to the foreign legal consultant at the address given to the court by the foreign legal consultant as aforesaid.

(c) In imposing any sanction authorized by subsection (a)(1), the court may act sua sponte or on the recommendation of the statewide grievance committee. To the extent feasible, the court shall proceed in a manner consistent with the rules of practice governing discipline of the bar of the state of Connecticut.

COMMENTARY: This amendment permits the use of electronic delivery confirmation in place of traditional return receipts.

Sec. 2-32. Filing Complaints against Attorneys; Action; Time Limitation

(a) Any person, including disciplinary counsel, or a grievance panel on its own motion, may file a written complaint, executed under penalties of false statement, alleging attorney misconduct whether or not such alleged misconduct occurred in the actual presence of the court. Complaints against attorneys shall be filed with the statewide bar counsel. Within seven days of the receipt of a complaint the statewide bar counsel shall review the complaint and process it in accordance with subdivisions (1), (2) or (3) of this subsection as follows:

(1) forward the complaint to a grievance panel in the judicial district in which the respondent maintains his or her principal office or residence, provided that, if the respondent does not maintain such an address in this state, the statewide bar counsel shall forward the complaint to any grievance panel; and notify the complainant and the respondent, by certified mail with return receipt or with electronic delivery confirmation, of the panel to which the complaint was sent. The notification to the respondent shall be accompanied by a copy of the complaint. The respondent shall respond within thirty days of the date notification is mailed to the

respondent unless for good cause shown such time is extended by the grievance panel. The response shall be sent to the grievance panel to which the complaint has been referred. The failure to file a timely response shall constitute misconduct unless the respondent establishes that the failure to respond timely was for good cause shown;

(2) refer the complaint to the chair of the statewide grievance committee or an attorney designee of the chair and to a nonattorney member of the committee, and the statewide bar counsel in conjunction with the chair or attorney designee and the nonattorney member, shall if deemed appropriate, dismiss the complaint on one or more of the following grounds:

(A) the complaint only alleges a fee dispute and not a clearly excessive or improper fee; (B) the complaint does not allege facts which, if true, would constitute a violation of any provision of the applicable rules governing attorney conduct;

(C) the complaint does not contain sufficient specific allegations on which to conduct an investigation;

(D) the complaint is duplicative of a previously adjudicated complaint;

(E) the complaint alleges that the last act or omission constituting the alleged misconduct occurred more than six years prior to the date on which the complaint was filed;

(i) Notwithstanding the period of limitation set forth in this subparagraph, an allegation of misconduct that would constitute a violation of Rule 1.15, 8.1 or 8.4 (2) through (6) of the Rules of Professional Conduct may still be considered as long as a written complaint is filed within one year of the discovery of such alleged misconduct.

(ii) Each period of limitation in this subparagraph is tolled during any period in which: (1) the alleged misconduct remains undiscovered due to active concealment; (2) the alleged misconduct would constitute a violation of Rule 1.8 (c) and the conditions precedent of the instrument have not been satisfied; (3) the alleged misconduct is part of a continuing course of misconduct; or (4) the aggrieved party is under the age of majority, insane, or otherwise unable to file a complaint due to mental or physical incapacitation.

(121712) APPENDIX A 2-11A 2-20 2-32 2-38 2-41 24-10 AND 24-32

- (F) the complaint alleges misconduct occurring in a superior court, appellate court or supreme court action and the court has been made aware of the allegations of misconduct and has rendered a decision finding misconduct or finding that either no misconduct has occurred or that the allegations should not be referred to the statewide grievance committee;
- (G) the complaint alleges personal behavior outside the practice of law which does not constitute a violation of the Rules of Professional Conduct;
 - (H) the complaint alleges the nonpayment of incurred indebtedness;
- (I) the complaint names only a law firm or other entity and not any individual attorney, unless dismissal would result in gross injustice. If the complaint names a law firm or other entity as well as an individual attorney or attorneys, the complaint shall be dismissed only as against the law firm or entity;
- (J) the complaint alleges misconduct occurring in another jurisdiction in which the attorney is also admitted and in which the attorney maintains an office to practice law, and it would be more practicable for the matter to be determined in the other jurisdiction. If a complaint is dismissed pursuant to this subdivision, it shall be without prejudice and the matter shall be referred by the statewide bar counsel to the jurisdiction in which the conduct is alleged to have occurred.
- (3) If a complaint alleges only a fee dispute within the meaning of subsection (a) (2) (A) of this section, the statewide bar counsel in conjunction with the chairperson or attorney designee and the nonattorney member may stay further proceedings on the complaint on such terms and conditions deemed appropriate, including referring the parties to fee arbitration. The record and result of any such fee arbitration shall be filed with the statewide bar counsel and shall be dispositive of the complaint. A party who refuses to utilize the no cost fee arbitration service provided by the Connecticut Bar Association shall pay the cost of the arbitration.
- (b) The statewide bar counsel, chair or attorney designee and nonattorney member shall have fourteen days from the date the complaint was filed to determine whether to dismiss the complaint. If after review by the statewide bar counsel, chair or attorney designee and nonattorney member it is determined that the complaint should be forwarded to a grievance panel for investigation in accordance with subsections (f) through (j) of this section, the complaint shall be so

forwarded in accordance with subsection (a) (1) of this section within seven days of the determination to forward the complaint.

- (c) If the complaint is dismissed by the statewide bar counsel in conjunction with the chair or attorney designee and nonattorney member, the complainant and respondent shall be notified of the dismissal in writing. The respondent shall be provided with a copy of the complaint with the notice of dismissal. The notice of dismissal shall set forth the reason or reasons for the dismissal. The complainant shall have fourteen days from the date notice of the dismissal is mailed to the complainant to file an appeal of the dismissal. The appeal shall be in writing setting forth the basis of the appeal and shall be filed with the statewide bar counsel who shall forward it to a reviewing committee for decision on the appeal. The reviewing committee shall review the appeal and render a decision thereon within sixty days of the filing of the appeal. The reviewing committee shall either affirm the dismissal of the complaint or order the complaint forwarded to a grievance panel for investigation in accordance with subsections (f) through (j) of this section. The decision of the reviewing committee shall be in writing and mailed to the complainant. The decision of the reviewing committee shall be final.
- (d) The statewide bar counsel shall keep a record of all complaints filed. The complainant and the respondent shall notify the statewide bar counsel of any change of address or telephone number during the pendency of the proceedings on the complaint.
- (e) If for good cause a grievance panel declines, or is unable pursuant to Section 2-29 (d), to investigate a complaint, it shall forthwith return the complaint to the statewide bar counsel to be referred by him or her immediately to another panel. Notification of such referral shall be given by the statewide bar counsel to the complainant and the respondent by certified mail with return receipt or with electronic delivery confirmation.
- (f) The grievance panel, with the assistance of the grievance counsel assigned to it, shall investigate each complaint to determine whether probable cause exists that the attorney is guilty of misconduct. The grievance panel may, upon the vote of a majority of its members, require that a disciplinary counsel pursue the matter before the grievance panel on the issue of probable cause.

- (g) Investigations and proceedings of the grievance panel shall be confidential unless the attorney under investigation requests that such investigation and proceedings be public.
- (h) On the request of the respondent and for good cause shown, or on its own motion, the grievance panel may conduct a hearing on the complaint. The complainant and respondent shall be entitled to be present at any proceedings on the complaint at which testimony is given and to have counsel present, provided, however, that they shall not be entitled to examine or cross-examine witnesses unless requested by the grievance panel.
- (i) The panel shall, within one hundred and ten days from the date the complaint was referred to it, unless such time is extended pursuant to subsection (j), do one of the following: (1) If the panel determines that probable cause exists that the respondent is guilty of misconduct, it shall file the following with the statewide grievance committee and with the disciplinary counsel: (A) its written determination that probable cause exists that the respondent is guilty of misconduct, (B) a copy of the complaint and response, (B) a transcript of any testimony heard by the panel, (D) a copy of any investigatory file and copies of any documents, transcripts or other written materials which were available to the panel. These materials shall constitute the panel's record in the case. (2) If the panel determines that no probable cause exists that the respondent is guilty of misconduct, it shall dismiss the complaint unless there is an allegation in the complaint that the respondent committed a crime. Such dismissal shall be final and there shall be no review of the matter by the statewide grievance committee, but the panel shall file with the statewide grievance committee a copy of its decision dismissing the complaint and the materials set forth in subsection (i) (1) (B), (C) and (D). In cases in which there is an allegation in the complaint that the respondent committed a crime, the panel shall file with the statewide grievance committee and with disciplinary counsel its written determination that no probable cause exists and the materials set forth in subsection (i) (1) (B), (C) and (D). These materials shall constitute the panel's record in the case.
- (j) The panel may file a motion for extension of time not to exceed thirty days with the statewide grievance committee which may grant the motion only upon a

finding of good cause. If the panel does not complete its action on a complaint within the time provided in this section, the statewide grievance committee shall inquire into the delay and shall order that the panel take action on the complaint forthwith, or order that the complaint be forwarded to and heard by another panel or a reviewing committee designated by the statewide grievance committee.

(k) The panel shall notify the complainant, the respondent, and the statewide grievance committee of its determination. The determination shall be a matter of public record if the panel determines that probable cause exists that the respondent is guilty of misconduct.

COMMENTARY: This amendment permits the use of electronic delivery confirmation in place of traditional return receipts.

Sec. 2-38. Appeal from Decision of Statewide Grievance Committee or Reviewing Committee Imposing Sanctions or Conditions

(a) A respondent may appeal to the superior court a decision by the statewide grievance committee or a reviewing committee imposing sanctions or conditions against the respondent, in accordance with Section 2-37 (a). A respondent may not appeal a decision by a reviewing committee imposing sanctions or conditions against the respondent if the respondent has not timely requested a review of the decision by the statewide grievance committee under Section 2-35 (g). Within thirty days from the issuance, pursuant to Section 2-36, of the decision of the statewide grievance committee, the respondent shall: (1) file the appeal with the clerk of the superior court for the judicial district of Hartford and (2) mail a copy of the appeal by certified mail, return receipt requested or with electronic delivery confirmation, to the office of the statewide bar counsel as agent for the statewide grievance committee and to the office of the chief disciplinary counsel.

(b) Enforcement of a final decision by the statewide grievance committee imposing sanctions or conditions against the respondent pursuant to Section 2-35 (i), including the publication of the notice of a reprimand in accordance with Section 2-54, shall be stayed for thirty days from the issuance to the parties of such decision. Enforcement of a decision by a reviewing committee imposing sanctions or conditions against the respondent, including the publication of the notice of a

(121712) APPENDIX A 2-11A 2-20 2-32 2-38 2-41 24-10 AND 24-32

reprimand in accordance with Section 2-54, shall be stayed for thirty days from the issuance to the parties of the final decision of the reviewing committee pursuant to Section 2-35 (g). If within that period the respondent files with the statewide grievance committee a request for review of the reviewing committee's decision, the stay shall remain in effect for thirty days from the issuance by the statewide grievance committee of its final decision pursuant to Section 2-36. If the respondent timely commences an appeal pursuant to subsection (a) of this section, such stay shall remain in full force and effect until the conclusion of all proceedings, including all appeals, relating to the decision imposing sanctions or conditions against the respondent. If at the conclusion of all proceedings, the decision imposing sanctions or conditions against the respondent is rescinded, the complaint shall be deemed dismissed as of the date of the decision imposing sanctions or conditions against the respondent. An application to terminate the stay may be made to the court and shall be granted if the court is of the opinion that the appeal is taken only for delay or that the due administration of justice requires that the stay be terminated.

(c) Within thirty days after the service of the appeal, or within such further time as may be allowed by the court, the statewide bar counsel shall transmit to the reviewing court a certified copy of the entire record of the proceeding appealed from, which shall include the grievance panel's record in the case, as defined in Section 2-32 (i), and a copy of the statewide grievance committee's record or the reviewing committee's record in the case, which shall include a transcript of any testimony heard by it or by a reviewing committee which is required by rule to be on the record, any decision by the reviewing committee in the case, any requests filed pursuant to Section 2-35 (g) of this section, and a copy of the statewide grievance committee's decision on the request for review. By stipulation of all parties to such appeal proceedings, the record may be shortened. The court may require or permit subsequent corrections or additions to the record.

(d) The appeal shall be conducted by the court without a jury and shall be confined to the record. If alleged irregularities in procedure before the statewide grievance committee or reviewing committee are not shown in the record, proof

limited thereto may be taken in the court. The court, upon request, shall hear oral argument.

- (e) The respondent shall file a brief within thirty days after the filing of the record by the statewide bar counsel. The disciplinary counsel shall file his or her brief within thirty days of the filing of the respondent's brief. Unless permission is given by the court for good cause shown, briefs shall not exceed thirty-five pages.
- (f) Upon appeal, the court shall not substitute its judgment for that of the statewide grievance committee or reviewing committee as to the weight of the evidence on questions of fact. The court shall affirm the decision of the committee unless the court finds that substantial rights of the respondent have been prejudiced because the committee's findings, inferences, conclusions, or decisions are: (1) in violation of constitutional provisions, rules of practice or statutory provisions;(2) in excess of the authority of the committee; (3) made upon unlawful procedure; (4) affected by other error of law; (5) clearly erroneous in view of the reliable, probative, and substantial evidence on the whole record; or (6) arbitrary or capricious or characterized by abuse of discretion or clearly unwarranted exercise of discretion. If the court finds such prejudice, it shall sustain the appeal and, if appropriate, rescind the action of the statewide grievance committee or take such other action as may be necessary. For purposes of further appeal, the action taken by the superior court hereunder is a final judgment.
- (g) In all appeals taken under this section, costs may be taxed in favor of the statewide grievance committee in the same manner, and to the same extent, that costs are allowed in judgments rendered by the superior court. No costs shall be taxed against the statewide grievance committee, except that the court may, in its discretion, award to the respondent reasonable fees and expenses if the court determines that the action of the committee was undertaken without any substantial justification. "Reasonable fees and expenses" means any expenses not in excess of \$7500 which the court finds were reasonably incurred in opposing the committee's action, including court costs, expenses incurred in administrative proceedings, attorney's fees, witness fees of all necessary witnesses, and such other expenses as were reasonably incurred.

COMMENTARY: This amendment permits the use of electronic delivery confirmation in place of traditional return receipts.

Sec. 2-41. Discipline of Attorneys Convicted of a Felony and Other Matters in Another Jurisdiction

- (a) An attorney shall send to the disciplinary counsel written notice of his or her conviction in any court of the United States, or the District of Columbia, or of any state, territory, commonwealth or possession of the United States of a serious crime as hereinafter defined within ten days of the entry of the judgment of conviction. That written notice shall be sent by certified mail, return receipt requested or with electronic delivery confirmation.
- (b) The term "conviction" as used herein refers to the disposition of any charge of a serious crime as hereinafter defined resulting from either a plea of guilty or nolo contendere or from a verdict after trial or otherwise, and regardless of the pendency of any appeal.
- (c) The term "serious crime" as used herein shall mean any felony or any larceny as defined in the jurisdiction in which the attorney was convicted or any crime for which the attorney was sentenced to a term of incarceration or for which a suspended period of incarceration or a period of probation was imposed.
- (d) The written notice required by subsection (a) of this section shall include the name and address of the court in which the judgment of conviction was entered, the date of the judgment of conviction, and the specific section of the applicable criminal or penal code upon which the conviction is predicated.
- (e) Upon receipt of the written notice of conviction the disciplinary counsel shall obtain a certified copy of the attorney's judgment of conviction, which certified copy shall be conclusive evidence of the commission of that crime in any disciplinary proceeding instituted against that attorney on the basis of the conviction. Upon receipt of the certified copy of the judgment of conviction, the disciplinary counsel shall file a presentment against the attorney with the superior court for the judicial district wherein the attorney maintains an office for the practice of law in this state, except that, if the attorney has no such office, the disciplinary counsel shall file it with the superior court for the judicial district of

Hartford. The filing of a presentment shall be discretionary with the disciplinary counsel where the offense for which the attorney has been convicted carries a maximum penalty of a period of incarceration of one year or less. The sole issue to be determined in the presentment proceeding shall be the extent of the final discipline to be imposed, provided that the presentment proceeding instituted will not be brought to hearing until all appeals from the conviction are concluded unless the attorney requests that the matter not be deferred. The disciplinary counsel shall also apply to the court for an order of immediate interim suspension, which application shall contain the certified copy of the judgment of conviction. The court may in its discretion enter an order immediately suspending the attorney pending final disposition of a disciplinary proceeding predicated upon the judgment of conviction. Thereafter, upon good cause shown, the court may, in the interest of justice, set aside or modify the interim suspension. Whenever the court enters an order suspending or disbarring an attorney pursuant to this section, the court may appoint a trustee, pursuant to Section 2-64, to protect the clients' and the attornev's interests.

- (f) If an attorney suspended solely under the provisions of this section demonstrates to the court that the underlying judgment of conviction has been vacated or reversed, the court shall vacate the order of interim suspension and place the attorney on active status. The vacating of the interim suspension shall not automatically terminate any other disciplinary proceeding then pending against the attorney.
- (g) An attorney's failure to send the written notice required by this section shall constitute misconduct.
 - (h) No entry fee shall be required for proceedings hereunder.
- (i) Immunity from prosecution granted to an attorney is not a bar to disciplinary proceedings, unless otherwise ordered by a judge of the superior court. The granting of a pretrial diversion program to an attorney charged with a serious crime as defined herein is not a bar to disciplinary proceedings, unless otherwise ordered by the judge who granted the program to the attorney.

COMMENTARY: This amendment permits the use of electronic delivery confirmation in place of traditional return receipts.

Sec. 24-10. -Service of Small Claims Writ and Notice of Suit

(a) The plaintiff, or representative, shall cause service of the writ and notice of suit separately on each defendant by priority mail with delivery confirmation, by certified mail with return receipt requested or with electronic delivery confirmation, by a nationally recognized courier service providing delivery confirmation, or by a proper officer in the manner in which a writ of summons is served in a civil action. The plaintiff, or representative, shall include any information required by the office of the chief court administrator. A statement of how service has been made, together with the delivery confirmation or return receipt or electronic delivery confirmation and the original writ and notice of suit shall be filed with the clerk. The writ and notice of suit and the statement of service shall be returned to the court not later than one month after the date of service.

(b) For each defendant which is an out-of-state business entity, the plaintiff shall cause service of the writ and notice of suit and answer form to be made in accordance with the General Statutes. The officer lawfully empowered to make service shall make return of service to the court. The clerk shall document the return of service.

(c) Upon receipt of the writ and accompanying documents, the clerk shall set an answer date and send notice to all plaintiffs or their representatives of the docket number and answer date. The clerk will send an answer form that includes the docket number and answer date to each defendant at the address provided by the plaintiff.

Sec. 24-32. Execution in Small Claims Actions

(a) Pursuant to the General Statutes, the judgment creditor or the representative of the judgment creditor may file with the court a written application on forms prescribed by the office of the chief court administrator for an execution to collect an unsatisfied money judgment.

(b) Service of an initial set of interrogatories, on forms prescribed by the office of the chief court administrator relevant to obtaining satisfaction of a small claims money judgment shall be made by sending the interrogatories by certified mail, with return receipt requested or with electronic delivery confirmation, to the person from whom discovery is sought.

COMMENTARY: This amendment permits the use of electronic delivery confirmation in place of traditional return receipts.

APPENDIX B (mins 121712)

Sec. 25a-15. Statements to Be Filed

- (a) At least five days before the hearing date of a motion or order to show cause concerning alimony, support, or counsel fees, or at the time a dissolution of marriage or civil union, legal separation or annulment action or action for custody or visitation is scheduled for a hearing, each party shall file, where applicable, a sworn statement substantially in accordance with a form prescribed by the chief court administrator, of current income, expenses, assets and liabilities. When the attorney general has appeared as a party in interest, a copy of the sworn statements shall be served upon him or her in accordance with Sections 10-12 through 10-14 and 10-17. Unless otherwise ordered by the judicial authority, all appearing parties shall file sworn statements within thirty days prior to the date of the decree. Notwithstanding the above, the court may render pendente lite and permanent orders, including judgment, in the absence of the opposing party's sworn statement. The provisions of Section 25-59A (h) shall apply to sworn statements filed under this subsection.
- (b) Where there is a minor child who requires support, the parties shall file a completed child support and arrearage guidelines worksheet at the time of any court hearing concerning child support.
- (c) At the time of any hearing, including pendente lite and postjudgment proceedings, in which a moving party seeks a determination, modification, or enforcement of any alimony or child support order, a party shall submit an Advisement of Rights Re: Income Withholding form (JD-FM-71).

COMMENTARY: The above change is made to make clear that the provisions of Section 25-59A (h) apply to sworn statements filed under Section 25a-15 (a).

Sec. 25-59A. Sealing Files or Limiting Disclosure of Documents in Family Matters

- (a) Except as otherwise provided by law, there shall be a presumption that documents filed with the court shall be available to the public.
- (b) Except as provided in this section and except as otherwise provided by law, including Section 13-5, the judicial authority shall not order that any files, affidavits,

(121712) Appendix B Sec 25a-15 and 25-59A.docx

documents, or other materials on file with the court or filed in connection with a court proceeding be sealed or their disclosure limited.

- (c) Upon written motion of any party, or upon its own motion, the judicial authority may order that files, affidavits, documents, or other materials on file or lodged with the court or in connection with a court proceeding be sealed or their disclosure limited only if the judicial authority concludes that such order is necessary to preserve an interest which is determined to override the public's interest in viewing such materials. The judicial authority shall first consider reasonable alternatives to any such order and any such order shall be no broader than necessary to protect such overriding interest. An agreement of the parties to seal or limit the disclosure of documents on file with the court or filed in connection with a court proceeding shall not constitute a sufficient basis for the issuance of such an order.
- (d) In connection with any order issued pursuant to subsection (c) of this section, the judicial authority shall articulate the overriding interest being protected and shall specify its findings underlying such order and the duration of such order. If any findings would reveal information entitled to remain confidential, those findings may be set forth in a sealed portion of the record. The time, date, scope and duration of any such order shall be set forth in a writing signed by the judicial authority which upon issuance the court clerk shall immediately enter in the court file. The judicial authority shall order that a transcript of its decision be included in the file or prepare a memorandum setting forth the reasons for its order.
- (e) Except as otherwise ordered by the judicial authority, a motion to seal or limit the disclosure of affidavits, documents, or other materials on file or lodged with the court or filed in connection with a court proceeding shall be calendared so that notice to the public is given of the time and place of the hearing on the motion and to afford the public an opportunity to be heard on the motion under consideration. The procedures set forth in Sections 7-4B and 7-4C shall be followed in connection with a motion to file affidavits, documents or other materials under seal or to limit their disclosure.
- (f) (1) A motion to seal the contents of an entire court file shall be placed on the short calendar to be held not less than fifteen days following the filing of the motion, unless the judicial authority otherwise directs, so that notice to the public is given of the time and place of the hearing on the motion and to afford the public an opportunity to be

heard on the motion under consideration. The procedures set forth in Sections 7-4B and 7-4C shall be followed in connection with such motion. (2) The judicial authority may issue an order sealing the contents of an entire court file only upon a finding that there is not available a more narrowly tailored method of protecting the overriding interest, such as redaction or sealing a portion of the file. The judicial authority shall state in its decision or order each of the more narrowly tailored methods that was considered and the reason each such method was unavailable or inadequate.

- (g) The provisions of this section shall not apply to settlement conferences or negotiations or to documents submitted to the court in connection with such conferences or negotiations. The provisions of this section shall apply to settlement agreements which have been filed with the court or have been incorporated into a judgment of the court.
- (h) Sworn statements of current income, expenses, assets and liabilities filed with the court pursuant to Sections 25-30 and 25a-15 shall be under seal and be disclosable only to the judicial authority, to court personnel, to the parties to the action and their attorneys, and to any guardians ad litem and attorneys appointed for any minor children involved in the matter, except as otherwise ordered by the judicial authority. When such sworn statements are filed, the clerk shall place them in a sealed envelope clearly identified with the words "Financial Affidavit." All such sworn statements that are filed in a case may be placed in the same sealed envelope. Any person may file a motion to unseal these documents. When such motion is filed, the provisions of paragraphs (a) through (e) of this section shall apply and the party who filed the documents shall have the burden of proving that they should remain sealed. The judicial authority shall order that the automatic sealing pursuant to this paragraph shall terminate with respect to all such sworn statements then on file with the court when any hearing is held at which financial issues are in dispute. This shall not preclude a party from filing a motion to seal or limit disclosure of such sworn statements pursuant to this section.
- (i) When placed on a short calendar, motions filed under this rule shall be listed in a separate section titled "Motions to Seal or Close" and shall also be listed with the time, date and place of the hearing on the Judicial Branch web site. A notice of such motion being placed on the short calendar shall, upon issuance of the short calendar, be posted on a bulletin board adjacent to the clerk's office and accessible to the public.

COMMENTARY: The above change is made to make clear that the provisions of Section 25-59A (h) apply to sworn statements filed under Section 25a-15 (a).